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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 December 13, 2000
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MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
i
o THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
o FROM: JOHN D. GIBSONGIN'
fi ASSISTANT STAFFDIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
< SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to
file or timely file the 2000 12 Day Pre-General Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
434(a). The list is comprised of unauthorized committees that file monthly and
authorized committees whose candidates sought election in the November 7"
General Election. The filing of the 12 Day Pre-General Report is mandatory in
both cases. On October 2, 2000, Prior Notice was sent to the political committees
and their treasurers, informing them that the report was due on October 26, 2000
and should cover the perod from October 1, 2000 through October 18, 2000.

The committees appearing on the list either filed the report more than five
(5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report prior
to four (4) days before the general election {considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penaities at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committees should be assessed the civil money penalties inciuded on the attached

list.

The list includes committees that have been assessed a previous
violation under the administrative fines program. The committees are: Richard
Pombo for Congress (AF #182), Noble Willingham for Congress (AF #202)



® @
All

committees paid the fine. committees were sent final determination
letters on October 16, 2000

At the executive session discussion
held on December $, 2000, the Commussion directed RAD to come forward with a
recommendation regarding the equitable assessment of previous violations. Until
the Commission can review and adopt a uniform method of assessing previous
violations, we recommend the Commission not consider the previous violations for
the committees listed above. 1f approved, the civil money penalty for
Richard Pombo for Congress would be reduced to $1,650 from $2,063, for Noble
Willingham for Congress it would be reduced to $2,000 from $2,500

For your information, nine (9) unauthorized committees filed 2000
November Monthly Reports in lieu of the 12 Day Pre-General Report. Since the
coverage dates for the November Monthly Report (10/1/00 - 10/18/00) extend
beyond that required for the 12 Day Pre-General Report (10/1/00 - 10/18/00) by
thirteen days, RAD used 58% of the total financial activity of the November
Monthly Report to calculate the proposed civil money penalty. For your
convenience, the nine committees are footnoted on the attached list.

Please note that RAD has made a similar adjustment in the case of Hutchins
for Congress (AF #185). This committee filed an October Quarterly Report
covering the period 7/16/00 - 10/15/00 on October 24, 2000. Thus, the disclosure
of the first 15 days of the 12 Day Pre-General Report (10/1/00 - 10/15/00) was
timely. The remaining three days of the reporting period, however, was not
disclosed until November 1, 2000. Therefore, RAD calculated the proposed civil
money penalty based on a three-day estimated level of activity.

Additionally, there were several instances where committees filed both the
November Monthly Report and 12 Day Pre-General Report. Where the November
Monthly Report was filed before the 12 Day Pre-General, we used the receipt date
of the Novernber Monthly (in order to reflect the earliest disclosure) and the level
of activity of the 12 Day Pre-General Report.

As stated at the outset, this RTB circulation only includes unauthorized
committees filing monthly reports and authorized  committees supporting
candidates who were in the general election. An unauthorized committee that files
on a quarterly basis must file the 12 Day Pre-General Report only if it makes a
contribution to, or an expenditure on behalf of, a candidate in the general election
between the dates of October 1, 2000 and October 18, 2000, inclusive. The




universe of quarterly filers required to file this report cannot be determined with
any certainty until we are able to review the activity disclosed in the 30 Day Post-
General Report submitted by quarterly filers. Once this research is completed, we
will circulate the RTB recommendations for the failure to file or failure to timely
file the 12 Day Pre-General Report by unauthorized quarterly filers.

Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers (except
for those indentified in recommendation 2 below) listed on the RTB
Circulation Report violated 2 US.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalties would be the amounts indicated on
the RTB Circulation Report.

{2) Find reason to believe that Richard Pombo for Congress and Randall Pombo,
Treasurer {AF #182), Noble Willingham for Congress and Dawn Marie Theure,
Treasurer (AF #202)

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalties for these
committees be reduced to $1,650, $2,000 respectively, to eliminate
the “previous violation” weighting factor.

(3) Send the appropriate letter.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washingtan, DC 20463

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, December 14, 2000 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Tuesday., December 18, 2000 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT:

()

()

()

Reason To Believe Recommendation -
12 Day Pre-General Report For The-
The Administrative Fines Program.

| approve the recommendation(s)

| approve the recommendations except those foliowing
to which { object (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those foilowing
in which | am recused {please insert AF#}

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please retumn
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please retumn ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

SENSITIVE



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason to Believe Recommendation
12 Day Pre-General Report for the
Administrative Fines Program:

% RICHARD POMBO FOR CONGRESS, and AF# 182
{id RANDALL POMBQ as treasurer;
w4
= LAWLER 2000 COMMITTEE, and PAUL CRESPI )  AF# 184
32 as treasurex; )
ij HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E ) AF# 185
& RAFER as treasurer; )
DUNKN LAMPTON FOR CONGRESS, and WAYNE ) AF# 187
HUTCHISON as treasurer; )
DORSO FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and JOHN ) AF# 188
T KORSMO as treasurer; )
GREENE FOR CONGRESS 2000 CAMPAIGN ) AF# 191
COMMITTEE, and LYNN HAMBRICK as )
treasurer; )
SISISKY FOR CONGRESS, and MARK B. ) Ar# 193
SISISKY as treasurer; )
WYNN FOR CONGRESS, and ALBERT WYNN as ) AF# 195
treasurer; }
“PRIENDS OF DAVID BISHOP", and GARSON ) AF# 197

K GOLDSTEIN as treasurer; )



Federal Election Commission Page 2
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 19, 2000

NOBLE WILLINGHAM FOR CONGRESS, and ) Ar# 202
DAWN MARIE THEURE as treasurer;

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF AIRPORT AF# 204
£ EXECUTIVES GOOD GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE.
and CHARLES M BARCLAY as treasurer;

s\ BAKERY, CONFECTIONERY, TOBACCO WORKERS
& GRAIN MILLERS INTL UN (BCTGM), and

DAVID B DURKEE as treasurer;

AF# 205

FPL PAC, FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO. AF# 207
EMPLOYEES' POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and T L. WINDER as treasurer;

"NORTEL NETWORKS INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE", and MARK D LOFTIS as

treasgurex;

AF# 208

Ll

CABLE & WIRELESS USA INC POLITICAL AF# 210
ACTION COMMITTEE (C & W USA PAC), and
CATHY SLESINGER as treasurer;

CENTRAL AND SOUTH WEST SERVICES INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ROGER

MURPHREE as treasurer;

AF# 211

[ A "4

CIRCUIT CITY STORES INC POLITICAL AFPH# 213
ACTION COMMITTEE (CIRCUIT CITY PAC),
and W STEPHEN CANNON as treasurer;
COMMITTEE FOR THE PRESERVATION OF
CAPITALISM, and BRUCE GATES as

treasurer;

AF# 214

P N "™
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DRUMMOND COMPANY INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (DPAC) (FKA ALABAMA
BY-PRODUCTS PAC), and JOHN P STILWELL
as treasurer;

ERNST & YOUNG POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and ALLEN W URBAN as
treasurer;

FIRST HEALTH GROUP CORP (FHGPAC), and
JOSEPH E WHITTERS as treasurer;
INSTITUTE OF SCRAP RECYCLING
INDUSTRIES POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and ROBIN WIENER as treasurer;
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL
INSURANCE AGENTS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE; THE, and SHEILA M GREENWOOD
ag treasurer;

NATIONAI, BEER WHOLESALERS'® ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (NBWA PAC),
and DAVID K REER as treasurer;
NATIONAL COMMUNITY PHARMACISTS
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
AKA NCPAPAC, and MARK W LAPPEN as
treasurer;

OSTEQPATHIC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and DR ROBERT GEORGE as
treasurer;

POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE OF THE

[ N i

B

Page

AF# 216

AF# 217

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#H

AF#

AF#

AF#

220

221

222

223

224

226

227

3




Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 19, 2000

INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF THEATRICAL
STAGE EMPLOYES, and MICHAEL W PROSCIA
ag treasurer;

RELIANT ENERGY ENTEX (RELIANT ENERGY
RESOURCES CORP) CITIZENSHIP
RESPONSIBILITY GROUP, and ROBERT W
CLAUDE ag treasurer;

SECURITIES INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and J
STEVEN JUDGE as treasurer;

TTITLE INDUSTRY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and JAMES R MAHER as
treasurer;

UNITED STATES TELECOM ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (USTAPAC),
and LISA M COSTELLC as treasurer;
VOLUNTEER PAC, and LINUS CATIGNANI as
treasurer;

REPUBLICAN PARTY OF MINNESOTA, and RON
CAREY as treasurerxr;

D N

[ R e N A"

Page 4

AF# 228

AF# 225

AF# 231

AF# 234

AF# 235

AF# 236




Federal Election Commission Page
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 19, 2000

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Acting Secretary for the

fey

*
i
1

W i

Federal Election Commissiocn, do hereby certify that

o

=

El
=
i

on December 19, 2000 the Commission took the
following actions on the Reascn to Believe

Recommendations for the 12 Day Pre-General Report

for the Administrative Fines Program, as recommended

s N -
PN T IR 1 (I T Co

in the Reports Analysis Divigion's Memorandum dated

Dacember 13, 2000, on the following committees:

AF# 182: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that RICHARD POMBO FOR CONGRESS,

and RANDALL POMBO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty be reduced to $1,650 to eliminate
the "previous violation” weighting factor; (2) send
the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, MecDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively

for the decigion.
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AF$ 184: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that LAWLER 2000 COMMITTEE, and
PAUL CRESPI as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Masen, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decisgion.
AF# 185: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £find
* reason to believe that HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and
:? BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C. 434 (a)

and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; {(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 187: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that DUNN LAMPTON FOR CONGRESS,
and WAYNE HUTCHISON as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amcunt indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commiszioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.
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Certification for Administrative Fines
December 19, 2000

AF$ 1BB: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that DORSO FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE,
and JOHN T KORSMO as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the repert; (2) send the appropriate letter.

o Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 191: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that GREENE FOR CONGRESS 2000
CAMPAIGN COMMITTEE, and LYNN HAMBRICK as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.S.C. 434({a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDenald,
sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 183: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reagon to belisve that SISISKY FOR CONGRESS, and
MARK B. SISISKY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AFPH# 195: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (%) £ind
reason to believe that WYNN FOR CONGRESS, and ALBERT
WYNN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make
a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report:
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 197: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that YFRIENDS OF DAVID BISHOPY,
and GARSON X GOLDSTEIN as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisicn.
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AF# 202: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) find

reason to believe that NOBLE WILLINGHAM FOR

CONGRESS, and DAWN MARIE THEURE as treasurer,

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty be reduced

to $2,000 to eliminate the "previous violation® weighting
factor; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted

affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 204: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £find
reagon to believe that AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
AIRPORT EXECUTIVES GCOD GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE, and
CHARLES M BARCLAY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively foxr the

. decision.
AF# 205: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
: reagson to believe that BAKERY, CONFECTIONERY,
G- TOBACCO WORKERS GRAIN MILLERS INTL UN (BCTGY), and

DAVID B DURKEE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the

: civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on

= the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 207: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that FPL PAC, FLORIDA POWER &

LIGHT CO. EMPLOYEES' POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
T L WINDER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a)

and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 208: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £ind
reagson to believe that YNORTEL NETWORKS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE", and MARK D LOFTIS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
{2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AFH# 210: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CABLE & WIRELESS USA INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (C & W USA PAC), and
CATHY SLESINGER as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 211: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CENTRAL AND SOUTH WEST
SERVICES INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ROGER
MURPHREE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Masen, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the’
decision.

£ AF# 213: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that CIRCUIT CITY STORES INC

i FOLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (CIRCUIT CITY PAC), and W
STEPHEN CANHON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; {(2) send the appropriate letter.
Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH 214: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that COMMITTEE FOR THE
PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISM, and BRUCE GATES as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) mend the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 216: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £ind
reagon to believe that DRUMMOND COMPANY INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (DPAC) (FKA ALABAMA
BY-PRODUCTS PAC)}, and JOEN P STILWELL as treasurer,

i violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary

i determination that the civil money penalty would be
5 the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

[ appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,

Ld Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weld voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 217: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reascon to believe that ERNST & YOUNG POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and ALLEN W URBEAN ag treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 220: Decided by a vote of €-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that FIRST HEALTH GROUP CORP
(FHGPAC), and JOSEPH E WHITTERS as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make 2 preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 221: Decided by a vote of 6-0 teo: (1) find
reason to believe that INSTITUTE OF SCRAP RECYCLING
INDUSTRIES PCOLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ROBIN
WIENER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decigion.

AF# 222: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
PROFESSIONAL INSURANCE AGENTS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE; THE, and SHEILA M GREENWOOD as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion.
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AF# 223: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that NATIONAL BEER WHOLESALERS'
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (NBWA PAC),
and DAVID K REHR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Cormissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 224: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that NATIONAL COMMUNITY
PHARMACISTS ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
AKA NCPAPAC, and MARK W LAPPEN as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report: (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 226: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that OSTEOPATHIC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and DR ROBERT GEORGE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated cn the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

AVFH 227: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE OF
THE INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF THEATRICAL STAGE
EMPLOYES, and MICHAEL W PROSCIA as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a preliminary
determination that the c¢ivil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
gandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 228: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that RELIANT ENERGY ENTEX (RELIANT
ENERGY RESOURCES CORP) CITIZENSHIP RESPONSIBILITY
GROUP, and ROBERT W CLAUDE as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 229: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that SECURITIES INDUSTRY
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and J STEVEN
JUDGE as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.
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AF# 231: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that TITLE INDUSTRY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES R MAHER as treasurer,

. violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

i appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
: Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted

o affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 234: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reagson to believe that UNITED STATES TELECOM
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (USTAPAC),
and LISA M COSTELLO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
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civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.-
Commissgioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 235: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that VOLUNTEER PAC, and LINUS
CATIGNANI as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amcunt indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 236: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that REPUBLICAN PARTY OF
MINNESOTA, and RON CAREY as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434{a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.
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Attest:

wih

wi \
@:A—_gm&pw ;‘Lo} 2000 pﬁ/Mﬂmu H‘UVLA—P

Fﬁ Date i~ Mary W. Dove
é‘ Acting Deputy Secretary
of the Commission

fl Received in the Secretariat: 'Thurs., Dec. 14, 2000 10:20 a.m.
: Circulated to the Commission: Thurs., Dec. 14, 2000 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Dec. 19, 2000 4:00 p.m.




CONFIRMATION DF CMGM TOzBRUCE GATES
CMTE FOR THE PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISM
PO BOX 22614
ALEXANDRIA VA 22304-3261

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

999 £ 5T NW # 709
HASHINGTON DC 20463

DECEMBER 21, 2000

ERUCE GATES

CMTE FOR THE PRESERVATION CF CAPITALISHM
PDST OFFICE BOX 22614

ALEXANDRIA VA 22304

C003284468
AFg: 214

DEAR BRUCE GATES:

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971s AS AMENDED (™THE
ACT®) s REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITYEE FILE A 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT
9F RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN LIEU OF FILING THE REPORT OTHERWISE
DUE IMN NOVEMBER OF ANY YEAR IN WHICH A REGULARLY SCHEDULED GENERAL
ELECTION IS HELDa. THIS REPORT, COVERING THE PERIOD THROUGH OCTOBER
189 2000, SHALL BE FILED ND LATER THAN GCTOBER 269 2000 2 UaSeCe
434(A). YOU WERE PREVIDUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE DUE DATE FOR YHE
PEPORTs RECORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT THIS REPORT WAS NOT
FILED PRIOR TO FOUR (4) DAYS BEFORE THE GENERAL ELECTION HELD ON
NOVEMBER 7y 2000. YOU SHOULD FILE THE 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORTY IF
YOU HAVE NOT ALREADY DONE 50

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 YO PERMIT THE FEDERAL
SLECTION COMMISSION ("THE COMMISSION™} TO TMPOSE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS QOF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTYS OF 2 UeSale
434€A)e 2 UeSeCs 437G(AIL4)s ON 1271972000, THE COMMISSION FOUND
THAT THERE IS REASON TO BELIEVE ("RYB™) THAT CMTE FOR THE
PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISM AND YOUy AS TREASURER, VIOLATED 2 UeSeCo
434¢A) BY FAILING TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPDRY ON OR BEFORE OCTOBER
26, 2000. BASED ON THE COMMISSION®S SCHEDULES DF CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 111.43, THE AMDUNT OF YOUR CIYIL MONEY PENALTY
CALCULATED AT RTB IS $4000.00. [I7 IS DUE BY 0172872001 AND IS BASED
ON THESE FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT:2 ELECTIDN SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY*: $85743

NHUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

HUMBER OF PREVIOQUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: 0

WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES




#IF THE REPORT WAS NOT RECEIVED, THE LEVEL OF ACTIVITY WAS ESTIMATED
USTING TOTAL RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS FOR THE CURRENT 2-YEAR
ELECTION CYCLE {OR PRIOR CYCLE, IF NO REPORTS WERE FILED THIS CYCLE)
JIVIDED Ay THE NUMBER 0OF REPORTS FILED.

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENY TO THE COMMISSION AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE
3. UPON RECLEIPT OF YDUR PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU &
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYs YOU MUST SUBMIT 4 WRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMMISSION'S
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW, 999 E STYREET, NW, WASHINGTON, DC
29463+ YOUR RESPONSE MUST B8E RECEIVED 3Y 01/28/2001. YOUR WRITTEN
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASON(S) WHY YDOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RT3
FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY. THE COMMISSION #iLL
GNLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A FACTUAL ERROR,
MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYY 3Y THE
COMMISSIONy OR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRADRDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FOR MORE THAN 43 HOURS THAT WERE BEYOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YDU FRDM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASTS SUPPORTING THE REASONIS) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION. THE COMMISSION STYRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT
DOCUMENTS BE SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFIDAYITS OR DECLARATIONS.
EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED INCLUDEs BUT
ARE NOY LIMITED TO, NEGLIGENCEs PROBLEMS WITH VENDORS OR
CONTRACTORS, STAFF ILLNESSs COMPUTER FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe 11 CFR 111.35(8){1X{III) AND {4).

IF YOU INTEND TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSELs PLEASE ADVISE THE
OFFICE DF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW. YDOU SHOULD PROVIDEs IN WRITING,
THE NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YDUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL TD RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND TMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY QR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IFf YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY DR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSE, THE COMMISSION WILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL ODETERMINATION THAT
CMTE FOR THE PRESERVATION CF CAPITALISM AND YOUs AS TREASURER,
VIOLATED 2 UeSelae 4#340A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PCHNALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE DEBY COLLECTION ACT OF
19821"DCA™)IAS AMENDED BY THE OEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
1996y 31 UasSe€s 3701 ET SEQe THE COMMISSION HMAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED BY THE DCA, AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE UeS. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTIONs 11 CFR 1l1lls.45.

THIS MATTER WAS GENERATED 3ASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE COMMISSION IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT ITS SUPERVISODRY
RESPONSISILITIESe 2 UeSeCe 437GCA(2)a IT WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL

WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES




IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UeSeCa 437GLAN(43C(BY AND 437G{AD(123CA) UNLESS
YOU NOTIFY THE COMMISSION IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE MATTER TO BE
MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE COMMISSION?S AOMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAMs INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIONS, IS LOCATED AT THE
COMMISSION®S WEBSITE AT WWWFECGOVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE
CONTACT JOHMN Geo MUCKLE IN THE REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT OUR TOLL
FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 {PRESS 1, THEN PRESS 2} OR (202)694-1130.
IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A CHALLENGE.
PLEASE CONTACT THE OFFICE GF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT DUR TOLL FREE
MUMBER {RB003424-9530 (PRESS Oy THEN EXTe 1660) DR (202)694-1660.

SINCERELY,

DARRYL WOLD
CHAIRMAN

* * % %x * & * » * * * * * *
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 1ll.43,
THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTS8 IS
$4000.,00 FOR THE 2000 12 CAY PRE-GENERAL REPDORT.
PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY QRDER MADE
PAYABLE YO THE FEDERAL SLECTICON COMMISSION TQ THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:
FECERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
P«.0s. 30X 952182
ST« LOUISy MO 63195-2182

IF YOU CHMOOSE TO SEND YOUR REMITYANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR
OVERNIGHT DELIVERYs PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR - GOVERNMENT LOCKBOX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
ST« LOUIS, MO 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YQUR PAYMENT ARE DUE BY 01/28/2001. UPON
RECEIPT OF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU
A FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELCW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

e o e e s T . e A e i b WIS TR AN N i o S o > A A . — T b e T . < e b D oo v Sl e . S g S S -

FOR: CMTE FOR THE PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISHM
FEC I0#: C00328468

AFd: 214

PAYMENT [LUE DATE: 01/728/2C01

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $4000.00

WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 May 17’ 2001 SENS‘T’E'“L

MEMORANDUM
. TO: THE COMMISSION
" THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON\VJ
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSONCY¥

ASSISTANT STAFJ DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
) RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL
AND 30 DAY POST-GENERAL REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure te timely file the 2000 12 Day Pre-
General and/or 30 Day Post-General Reports. The first list represents committees that
have paid the civil money penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid.
The committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date
of the RTB notification to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send 2 final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual fevel of
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that

assessed at RTB.
First Health Group Corp {(FHGPAC) (AF #220), disclosed

zero receipts and disbursements, thus bringing their final civil money penalty to zero as
well. First Health Group Corp (FHGPAC) paid its 52,000 civil money penalty on January
16, 2001; we will therefore issue a refund of the full amount.



Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committ
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.

ees and their treasurers on the
the civil money penalties so
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION SENSHWE

Washington, DC 20463

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, May 17, 2001 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Tuesday, May 22 2001 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

: SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 12 Day Pre-General & 30 Day Post-General
Reperts. Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director,
Reports Analysis Division dated May 17, 2001.

() | approve the recommendation(s)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
to which |1 object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All baliots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation
2000 12 Day Pre-General Reports for
the Administrative Fines Program:

}
)
)
)
)
i RICHARD POMBO FOR CONGRESS, and ) AF# 182
i3 RANDALL POMBO as treasurer; )
i LAWLER 2000 COMMITTEE, and PAUL CRESPI )  AF# 184
b as treasurer; )
f HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E ) AF# 185
1 RAFER as treasurer; )
DUNN LAMPTON FOR CONGRESS, and WAYNE ) AF# 187
- HUTCHISON as treasurer; )
G- DORSO FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and JOHEN ) AF# 188
i T KORSMO as treasurer; )
i GREENE FOR CONGRESS 2000 CAMPAIGN ) AF# 191
COMMITTEE, and LYNN HAMBRICK as )
treasurer; )
SISISKY FOR CONGRESS, and MARK B. ) AF# 193
SISISKY as treasurer; )
WYNN FOR CONGRESS, and ALBERT WYNN as ) AF# 195
treasurer; )
FRIENDS OF DAVID BISHOP, and GARSCON X ) AP# 197
GOLDSTEIN as treasurer; )
NOBLE WILLINGHAM FOR CONGRESS, and ) AF# 202
DAWN MARIE THEURE as treasurer; H
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF AIRPORT ) AFH# 204
EXECUTIVES GOOD GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE, )
and CHARLES M BARCLAY as treasurer; )
BAKERY, CONFECTIONERY, TOBACCO WORKERS ) AF# 205
GRAIN MILLERS INTL UN (BCTGHM), and )
DAVID B DURKEE as treasurer; )
FPL PAC, FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO. ) AF# 207




Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
May 22, 2001

EMPLOYEES' POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and T L. WINDER as treasurer;

NORTEL NETWORKS INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and MARK D LOFTIS as
treasurer;

CABLE & WIRELESS USA INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (C & W USA PAC), and
CATHY SLESINGER as treasurer;

CENTRAL AND SOUTH WEST SERVICES INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ROGER
MURPHREE as treasurer;

CIRCUIT CITY STORES INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (CIRCUIT CITY PAC),
and W STEPHEN CANNON as treasurer;
COMMITTEE FOR THE PRESERVATION OF
CAPITALISM, and BRUCE GATES as
treasurer;

DRUMMOND COMPANY INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE {DPAC) (FKA ALABAMA
BY-PRODUCTS PAC), and JOHN P STILWELL
as treasurer;

ERNST & YOUNG POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and ALLEN W URBAN as
treasurer;

FIRST HEALTH GROUP CORP (FHGPAC), and
JOSEPH E WHITTERS as treasurer;
INSTITUTE OF SCRAP RECYCLING
INDUSTRIES POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and ROBIN WIENER as treasurer;
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL
INSURANCE AGENTS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE; THE, and SHEILA M GREENWOOD
as treasurer;

NATIONAL BEER WHOLESALERS' ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (NBWA PAC),
and DAVID K REHR as treasurer;
NATIONAL COMMUNITY PHARMACISTS
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ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEER
AKA NCPAPAC, and MARK W LAPPEN as
treasurer;

OSTEOPATHIC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and DR ROBERT GEORGE as
treasurer;

POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE OF THE
INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF THEATRICAL
STAGE EMPLOYES, and MICHAEL W PROSCIA
as treasurer;

RELIANT ENERGY ENTEX (RELIANT ENERGY
RESOQURCES CORP) CITIZENSHIP
RESPONSIBILITY GROUP, and ROBERT W
CLAUDE as treasurer;

SECURITIES INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and J
STEVEN JUDGE as treasurer;

TITLE INDUSTRY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and JAMES R MAHER as
treasurer;

DENNIS CALHOUN ag treasurer;

UNITED STATES TELECOM ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (USTAPAC},
and LISA M COSTELLO as treasurer;
VOLUNTEER PAC, and LINUS CATIGNANI as
treasurer;

NATIONAL COTTON COUNCIL COMMITTEE FOR
THE ADVANCEMENT OF COTTON, and WILLIAM
R TRACY as treasurer;

AMERICA SERVICE GROUP INC POLITICAL
AC'PION COMMITTEE, and JEAN L BYASSEE
asgs treasurer;

AMERICANS FOR SOUND ENERGY POLICY, and
GREGGE I RENKES as treasurer;

PRAIRIE LEADERSHIP COMMITTEE, and PAM
TERRELL asg treasurer;
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AMERICAN CONCRETE PAVEMENT ASSOCIATION
PAC {(ACPA PAC), and VALENTIN J RIVA as
treasurer;

AMERICAN CROP PROTECTION ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAY J
VROOM as treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
as treasurer;

AMERICAN MOVING AND STCRAGE
ASSOCTIATION FKA AMERICAN MOVERS
CONFERENCE, and ROBERT G DRUMMER as
treasurer;

ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN RAILROADS
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (RAIL PAC),
and CASSANDRA HENRY as treasurer;
AUTONATION INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and COLEMAN EDMUNDS as
treasurer;

BURSON-MARSTELLER/YOUNG & RUBICAM PAC
{B-M/Y&R PAC) FXA BURSON-MARSTELLER
PAC, and PETER SLONE as treasurer;
COCA-COLA ENTERPRISES INC EMPLOYEE
NONPARTISAN COMMITTEE FOR GOOD
GOVERNMENT, and LAURA B ASMAN as
treasurer:;

FIGHT-PAC, and MARK D RODGERS as
treasurer;

GENESIS HEALTH VENTURES INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and LAURENCE F. LANE
aB treasurer;

HOLLAND AMERICA LINE WESTOURS, INC.
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PAC {HALPAC), and LARRY D CALKINS as
treasurer;

ICE CREAM, MILK&CHEESE PAC-INTL ICE
CREAM ASSN, MILK INDUSTRY FDTN &NATL
CKEESE INSTITUTE , and ANNE DEVLIN as
treasurer;

INDEPENDENT ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS INC
PAC {IEC GOOD GOVERNMENT PAC), and D L
CASEY asg treasurer;

LEADERSHIP PAC 2000, and PAM SEDERHOLM
as treasurer;

MADISON PROJECT INC FUND;THE, and
TIMOTHY TEEPELL as treasurer;

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MORTGAGE
BROKERS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(NAMB PAC), and CHANNING J NUSS as
treasurer;

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WHEAT GROWERS
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (WHEATPAC),
and WAYNE HAMMON as treasurer;

NATIONAL UTILITY CONTRACTORS ASSH
LEGISLATIVE INFORMATION & ACTION
COMMITTEE, and MR A WILLIAM HILLMAN as
treasurer;

OUTDOOR ADVERTISING ASSOCIATION OF
AMERICA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FLETCHER as treasurer;

RITE AID POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and JAMES XRAHULEC as treasurer;
ROLLS-ROYCE NORTH AMERICA POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE FKA ALLISON ENGINE
COMPANY PAC, and MICHELE H MCCLOUD as
treasurer;
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RYDER EMPLS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS RYDER CMTE
EFFECTIVE GOVERNMENT), and ANTHONY G
TEGNELIA asg treasurer;

SERVICES GROUP OF AMERICA POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARKE GREENE as
treasurer;

SOUTHDOWN INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and THOMAS E DAMAN as
treasurer;

SUNBELT GOOD GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE OF
WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC., and JEFFREY
GLEASCON as treasurer;

SUNTRUST MID-ATLANTIC RESPONSIBLE
GOVERNMENT FUND FKA (CRESTAR
RESPONSIELE GOV FUND), and MRS BRENDA
I, SKIDMORE as treasurer;

TEXAS-NEW MEXICO POWER COMPANY
RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION,
and MR SCOTT FORBES as treasurer;

WADDELL & REED FINABNCIAL INC PAC (AKA
WADDELL & REED FINANCIAL INC PAC), and
JAMES CLARENCE CUSSER as treasurer;
WESTERN PISTACHIC ASSOCIATION
PISTACHIO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and DR JOHN LAKE as treasurer;
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CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal

-;r‘._m
[

e e

Election Commission, do hereby certify that on

S e

L.

May 22, 2001, the Commission took the following
| E* actions on the Final Determination Recommendation

B for the 2000 12 Day Pre-General Reports in the

aAdminigtrative Fines Program, as recommended in the

H Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated May 17,

2001, on the following committees:

AF# 18B2: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that RICHARD POMBO FOR CONGRESS,

w and RANDALL POMBO as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C.

| 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be

| the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

| appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 18B4: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that LAWLER 2000 COMMITTEE, and
PAUL CRESPI as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty weould be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Masomn, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 185: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) HMake a
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final determination that HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and
BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 187: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a

final determination that DUNN LAMPTON FOR CONGRESS,

and WAYNE HUTCHISON as treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C.

. 434 {a) and assess the civil money penalty would be

o the amount indicated on the report; (2} send the

o appropriate letter. Commissioners Masen, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 188: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that DORSO FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and JOHN T KORSMO as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 191: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that GREENE FOR CONGRESS 2000
CAMPAIGN COMMITTEE, and LYNN HAMBRICK as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.S8.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
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(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 183: Decided by a vote of 6~0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that SISISKY FOR CONGRESS, and
MARK B. SISISKY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commuissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 195: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
f£inal determination that WYNN FOR CONGRESS, and
ALBERT WYNN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, Mchonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 197: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that FRIENDS OF DAVID BISHOP,
and GARSON K GOLDSTEIN as treasurer, violated 2
U.5.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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$ o AF# 202: Dacided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that NOBLE WILLINGHAM FOR

' CONGRESS, and DAWN MARIE THEURE as treasurer,

o violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and assess the civil money
i penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 204: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
AIRPORT EXECUTIVES GCOD GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE, and
CHARLES M BARCLAY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDhonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomag, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 205: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that BAKERY, CONFECTIONERY,
TOBACCO WORKERS GRAIN MILLERS INTL UN (BCTGM), and
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DAVID B DURKEE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 207: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a

final determination that FPL PAC, FLORIDA POWER &

LIGHT CO. EMPLOYEES' POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and

T 1, WINDER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)

and assess the civil money penalty would be the

g’ amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

S appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDbonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 208: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
fipnal determination that NORTEL NETWORKS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK D LOFTIS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 210: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that CABLE & WIRELESS USA INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (C & W USA PAC), and
CATHY SLESINGER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Caonmissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 211: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that CENTRAL AND SOUTH WEST
SERVICES INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ROGER
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MURPHREE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; {(2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, Mcbonald, Sandstrom,

‘% Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
= decision.

fii

?j AF# 213: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a

: £inal determination that CIRCUIT CITY STORES INC
5 POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (CIRCUIT CITY PAC), and W

N

il STEPHEN CANNON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

# 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
??‘ the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
o appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, MeDonald,

Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 214: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that COMMITTEE FOR THE
PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISM, and BRUCE GATES as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the apprcopriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 216: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) Make a
final determination that DRUMMOND COMPANY INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (DPAC) (FKA ALABAMA
BY-PRODUCTS PAC), and JOHN P STILWELL as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amcunt indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 217: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that ERNST & YQUNG POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and ALLEN W URBAN ap treasurer,
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violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Conmisgsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 220: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that FIRST HEALTH GROUP CORP
(FHGPAC), and JOSEPH E WHITTERS as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, MeDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion. Commissioner Thomas
recused himself with respect to this matter and did
not vote.

AF§ 221: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that INSTITUTE OF SCRAP
RECYCLING INDUSTRIES POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
ROBIN WIENER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 222: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
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PROFESSTIONAL INSURANCE AGENTS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE; THE, and SHEILA M GREERWOOD as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 223: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
: final determination that NATIONAL BEER WHOLESALERS'
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (NBWA PAC),
and DAVID XK REHR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,

; Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted

e affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 224: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that NATIONAL COMMUNITY
PHARMACISTS ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
AKA NCPAPAC, and MARK W LAPPEN as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF§# 226: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that OSTEOPATHIC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and DR ROBERT GEORGE az treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissicners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 227; Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
OF THE INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE CF THEATRICAL STAGE
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EMPLOYES, and MICHAEL W PROSCIA as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report:
{(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 228: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a

final determination that RELIANT ENERGY ENTEX

(RELIANT ENERGY RESOURCES CORP) CITIZENSHIP

RESPONSIBILITY GROUP, and ROBERT W CLAUDE as

treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the

pell civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on

- the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.

s Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

£ Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 229: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that SECURITIES INDUSTRY
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and J STEVEN
JUDGE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
jndicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 231: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that TITLE INDUSTRY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES R MAHER as treasurer,
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violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners

. Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold

& voted affirmatively for the decisionm.

F.

e, pour

i
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AF# 234: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that UNITED STATES TELECOM
ASSOCTIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE {USTAPAC) ,
and LISA M COSTELLO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH§ 235: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
£inal determination that VOLUNTEER PAC, and LINUS
CATTGNANI as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amcount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, Mcbonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 327: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that NATIONAL COTTON COUNCIL
COMMITTEE FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF COTTCN, and WILLIAM
R TRACY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
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indicated on the report; {2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

) decision.
% ..;'
i} AF# 328: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
i final determination that AMERICA SERVICE GROUP INC

= POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JEAN L BYASSEE as

: treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
L the report; {(2) send the appropriate letter.

- Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

o Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 329: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that AMERICANS FOR SOUND ENERGY
POLTCY, and GREGG D RENKES as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
weuld be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
MeDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 330: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
fipal determination that PRAIRIE LEADERSHIP
COMMITTEE, and PAM TERRELL as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 332: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that AMERICAN CONCRETE PAVEMENT
ASSOCIATION PAC (ACPA PAC), and VALENTIN J RIVA as
treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
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Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisgion.

AF# 333: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that AMERICAN CROF PROTECTION
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAY J
VROOM as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDomald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 334: pecided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 335: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determinaticn that AMERICAN MOVING AND STORAGE
ASSOCIATION FKA AMERICAN MOVERS CONFERENCE, and
ROBERT G DRUMMER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 339: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN
RAILROADS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (RAIL PAC), and
CASSANDRA HENRY ag treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion.

5 5
?‘. .
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= AF# 340: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a

final determination that AUTONATION INC POLITICAL
jid ACTTON COMMITTEE, and COLEMAN EDMUNDS as treasurer,

violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 341: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that BURSON-MARSTELLER/YOUNG &
RUBICAM PAC (B-M/Y&R PAC) FKA BURSON-MARSTELLER PAC,
and PETER SLONE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 343: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that COCA-COLA ENTERPRISES INC
EMPLOYEE NONPARTISAN COMMITTEE FOR GOOD GOVERNMENT,
and LAURA B ASMAN as treasurer, violated 2 u.s.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commigsioners Mason, Mchonald,
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Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas recused himself
with respect to this matter and did not vote.

AF# 349: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that FIGHT-PAC, and MARK D
RODGERS as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Themas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 350: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that GENESIS HEALTH VENTURES INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and LAURENCE F. LANE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 351: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that HOLLAND AMERICA LINE
WESTOURS, INC. PAC (HALPAC), and LARRY D CALKINS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
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Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.
o AF# 352: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
TH final determination that ICE CREAM, MILK&CHEESE

?3 PAC-INTL ICE CREAM ASSN, MILK INDUSTRY FDTN &NATL

B CHEESE INSTITUTE , and ANNE DEVLIN as treasurer,

s violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weld
voted affirmatively for the decision.

4

AF# 353: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
£inal determination that INDEPENDENT ELECTRICAL
CONTRACTORS INC PAC (IEC GOOD GOVERNMENT pAC}, and D
1, CASEY as treasurer, viclated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 354: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that LEADERSHIP PAC 2000, and
PAM SEDERHOLM as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 357: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} Make a
£inal determination that MADISON PROJECT INC

FUND; THE, and TIMOTHY TEEPELL as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
MeDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AFH 358: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
MORTGAGE BROKERS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (NAMB
PAC), and CHANNING J NUSS as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; {2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weld voted
affirmatively for the decisiocn.

AF# 358: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
: final determination that NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF

G WHEAT GROWERS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (WHEATPAC),
i and WAYNE HAMMON as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S5.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amcunt indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decisiocn.

AF# 361: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that NATIONAL UTILITY
CONTRACTORS ASSN LEGISLATIVE INFORMATION & ACTION
COMMITTEE, and MR A WILLIAM HILLMAN as treasurer,
violated 2 U.£.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissicners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.




Federal Election Commission Page 23
Certification for Administrative Fines
May 22, 2001

AF# 365: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that OUTDOOR ADVERTISING
ASSOCTIATION OF AMERICA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,

and NANCY FLETCHER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
" the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
o appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,

* Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted

affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 367: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that RITE AID POLITICAL ACTICN
COMMITTEE, and JAMES KRAHULEC as treasurer, violated
2 1U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 368: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that ROLLS-ROYCE NORTH AMERICA
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA ALLISON ENGINE
COMPANY PAC, and MICHELE H MCCLOUD as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFf 369: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
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final determination that RYDER EMPLS POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (FORMERLY KNCWN AS RYDER CMTE
EFFECTIVE GOVERNMENT), and ANTHONY G TEGNELIA as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the
& civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
- the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
fd Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
i Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

": decision.

]

%é AF# 370: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
p final determination that SERVICES GROUP OF AMERICA

o POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARKE GREENE as

L] treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434({a) and assess the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 371: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) MHake a
final determination that SOUTHDOWN INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and THOMAS E DAMAN as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weold
voted affirmatively for the decigion.

AF# 372: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that SUNBELT GOOD GOVERNMENT
COMMITTEE OF WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC., and JEFFREY
GLEASON as treasurer, viclated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mascon, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 373: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} Make a
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final determination that SUNTRUST MID-ATLANTIC
RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT FUND FKA (CRESTAR RESPONSIBLE
GOV FUND), and MRS BRENDA L SKIDMORE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decisicn.

AF# 374: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that TEXAS-NEW MEXICO POWER
COMPANY RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION, and MR
SCOTT FORBES as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonaild,
sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 376: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
final determination that WADDELL & REED FINANCIAL
INC PAC (AKA WADDELL & REED FINANCIAL INC PAC}, and
JAMES CLARENCE CUSSER as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
would be the amount indicated on the report; (2)
send the apprepriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 377: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) Make a
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final determination that WESTERN PISTACHIO
ASSOCIATION PISTACHIO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and DR JOHN LAKE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

- appropriate letter. Commissicners Mason, McDonald,
i Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

O, 25 2500 han. DL L

szé ’ Mary Dove
Secrefary of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Thurs., May 17, 2001 1:11 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Thurs., May 17, 2001 4:00 p.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., May 22, 2001 4:00 p.m.
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION DF MAILGRAM  TO:BRUCE GATES
CMTE FOR THE PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISM

PD BDX 22614
ALEXANDRIA VA 22304-9261

FEDERAL SLECTION COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

999 T ST NW # 709
WASHINGTON DL 20463

MAY 24, 2001

BRUCE GATES

CMTE FOR THE PRESERVATION CF CAPITALISH
PAST OFFICE BOX 22614

ALEXANDRIA VA 223024

CO0323463
AFue 214

DT AR 3RUCE GATZS:

ON 1271972000y THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION ("THE
COMMISSIAON") FOUND REASON TC SELIEVE (™RT3™) THAT CHTE FOR THE
PRESERVATION DF CAPITALISHM AND YQWs AS TREASURERs VIOLATED 2 UsSeCoe
434(A) FOR FILING LATE OR FAILING T2 FILE THE 2000 12 DAY
PRE~GENCRAL REPMRT. BY MATILGRAM DATED 12/21/2000y THE COMMISSION
SENT YNU NCTIFICATION DOF THE RTB FINDING THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL MOKEY
PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTPR OF $54000.00 [N ACCORDOANCE WITH THE
SCHEDJULE OF PSNALTIES AT 11l CeFeRe 111a43,

ON 0173072001y THE COMMISSION RECEIVED PAYHENMT OF YZJUR CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB. THEREFORE, THET COMMISSION MADE A
FINAL DETERMINATION ON 0572272001 THAT YOU, AS TREASURER, AND CHMTE
FOR THE PRESERVATION OF CAPITALISM VIOJLATED 2 UesSeCa 434040,
ASSESSED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT 3F $%$4000.00 IN
ACCORDANCE WITH 11 CeFaRe 1lle43y AND VITED TO CLOSE THE FILZ.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS AT 2 UsSeCe 437G1A)L12) NO LOMGER
EPPLY AND THIS MATTER [S NCW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL 3E MADS A PART OF
THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TO 11 C.Fefle 111442{B}a ALTHOUGH THE
COMBLETE FILE MUST 3E PLACED OM THE PUSLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY {30)
DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE COMMISSIOM®S HNOTIFICATION, THIS CCULD OCLUR
AT ANYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMAISSIIN®S VOTEL,

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS MATTERy PLEASE (ONTACT
JOHN Ge MUCKLE ON 7OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (BO0)424~-9530 (PRESS le THEN

PRESS 2% DR (202)634~-1130.
SINCERELY,

DANNY L. MCDIONALD
CHAIRMAN




PAGE 4 051123000451

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 01/28/2001

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $4000.00
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